
 

 

Agenda - Children, Young People and Education 

Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Hybrid – Committee room 1&2 Senedd 

and video Conference via Zoom 

Meeting date: 25 May 2023 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Naomi Stocks 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddChildren@senedd.wales
------ 

Private pre-meeting  

(09.15 - 09.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

2 Pre-appointment hearing for Chief Executive of the Commission 

for Tertiary Education and Research 

(09.30 - 10.30) (Pages 1 - 57)  

Simon Pirotte 

Attached Documents:  

Research Brief 

Written Statement by the Welsh Government - CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper 1 

Letter from the Minister for Education and Welsh Language - CYPE(6)-16-23 

- Paper 2 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 1 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 2 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 3 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 4 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 5 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 6 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 7 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

3 Papers to note 

(10.30)   

 

3.1 Implementation of education reforms 

 (Page 58)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from ColegauCymru - CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper to note 1 

 

3.2 Forward work programme 

 (Pages 59 - 60)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Chair of the Children, Young People and Education 

Committee to the Minister for Education and Welsh Language - CYPE(6)-16-

23 - Paper to note 2 

 

3.3 Information from Stakeholders 

 (Pages 61 - 69)  

Attached Documents:  

Briefing note from the Schoolwear - CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper to note 3 

 

3.4 Legislative Consent: Illegal Migration Bill 

 (Pages 70 - 71)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Chair of the Local Government and Housing Committee  to 

Chair of the Business Committee - CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper to note 4 

 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting 

(10.30)   



 

 

 

5 Pre-appointment hearing for Chief Executive of the Commission 

for Tertiary Education and Research - consideration of the 

evidence 

(10.30 - 11.00)   

 

6 Joint Ministerial scrutiny session - consideration of the approach 

(11.00 - 11.15) (Pages 72 - 73)  

Attached Documents:  

Research Brief 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



 
 

 

WRITTEN STATEMENT  

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 
 

 

TITLE  
Establishment of the Commission for Tertiary Education and 

Research - Appointment of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

DATE  19 April 2023 

BY Jeremy Miles MS, Minister for Education and Welsh Language 

 

I am pleased to announce Simon Pirotte OBE as my preferred candidate for the role 

of Chief Executive Officer for the Commission for Tertiary Education and Research. 

Simon is currently Principal and Chief Executive of Bridgend College and has worked 

in the education sector for over thirty years. This includes work in the Higher 

Education, Further Education and 11-18 Schools sectors in Wales, England and the 

USA. 

A rigorous, open recruitment process took place for the role of Chief Executive 

between November 2022 and February 2023. However, the panel was unable to 

recommend a candidate for appointment. Having carefully considered all options 

available to me, I have therefore decided to appoint directly into the role. 

In determining my preferred candidate, I was conscious of the views expressed by the 

Children, Young People and Education Committee in the pre-appointment hearings 

for the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Commission, particularly the need to ensure the 

Commission has experience which recognises the breadth of the sector in Wales. I 

am confident that following the appointment of Professor Dame Julie Lydon (Chair), 

Professor David Sweeney (Deputy Chair and Chair of the Research and Innovation 

Committee) and now with Simon’s forthcoming appointment, we have a team with 

wide-ranging leadership experience and knowledge of the sector who can lead the 

new Commission in delivering our innovative and ambitious vision for Wales’s tertiary 

education and research sector.   

Pack Page 10



 
 

Simon will attend a pre-appointment hearing with the Children, Young People and 

Education Committee on 25 May in line with the commitment I made during the 

passage of the Tertiary Education and Research (Wales) Act 2022. I look forward to 

receiving the Committee’s pre-appointment hearing report at which stage I will confirm 

next steps.  

This statement is being issued during recess in order to keep members informed. 

Should members wish me to make a further statement or to answer questions on this 

when the Senedd returns I would be happy to do so. 

 

Pack Page 11



Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg ac Addysg  

Minister for Education and Welsh Language  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
 
Jayne Bryant MS,  
Chair, Children, Young People and Education Committee 
Seneddchildren@senedd.wales 
 
 
 
 
 
 19 May 2023 
 
 
Dear Jayne, 
 
Appointment of Chief Executive, Commission for Tertiary Education and Research 

 
Thank you for your letter of 10th May relating to the appointment of a CEO to the 
Commission of Tertiary Education and Research.  In your letter, you posed several 
questions which I have addressed below.   
 
1. Prior to the panel making its formal recommendations to you, did they receive any 

feedback – either formally or informally, or any steers or indication from either you or 
someone acting on your behalf on the acceptability or otherwise of any of the 
candidates?  

 
No, I did not provide a steer to the panel on the acceptability of any of the candidates 
prior to the panel making its formal recommendations to me. Officials provided advice at 
various stages of the appointment process after the panel had concluded its 
deliberations.  
 

2. What involvement did you have in the process prior to your meeting in March, after the 
recruitment process had concluded, to discuss next steps?  

 

On receiving the panel’s advice that they were unable to recommend a candidate for 

appointment, I noted the position and stressed the importance of the person ultimately 

recommended for appointment having good Further Education or Work Based Learning 

credentials. Officials then provided me with a briefing paper on potential options in 

relation to the appointment of a Chief Executive and the implications of the Commission 

having a shorter period to undertake preparatory activity in advance of it becoming 

operational.  

 

Pack Page 12

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales


3. Can you provide more information on why you decided to move to direct appointment 
and not re-advertise?  
 
The Tertiary Education and Research (Wales) Act 2022 provides that the Commission 
comprises a Chief Executive, a Chair, a Chair of the Research and Innovation 
Committee (who is also the Deputy Chair) and at least four Board Members.  
 
To ensure a smooth transition and continuity of provision in advance of it becoming 
operational by 1 April 2024, the Commission needs to undertake a range of preparatory 
activity. This includes preparatory activity on the registration system; consulting on the 
appointment of Associate Board Members; developing employment terms and conditions 
and associated HR policies; consulting on measures relating to the transfer of staff; 
concluding work on organisational design (i.e. operating model and structure); and 
commencing any necessary recruitment activity.  
 
The Commission cannot undertake this activity until the aforementioned appointments 
are made. The timely appointment of the Chief Executive is therefore essential in order 
for the Commission to be operational by 1 April 2024.  
 
In making my decision, I also considered that a rigorous, open appointment process had 
only just concluded and re-advertising the post immediately was not likely to deliver an 
outcome in which a different field of candidates would materialise and be suitable for 
appointment.   
 

4. To what extent was the original recruitment panel involved in the decision to move to 
direct appointment, and the identification of potential candidates? The paper provided 
seems to suggest that one member of the panel was involved in these discussions, were 
other members involved? If the whole panel was not involved in these discussions and 
decisions can you outline why they were not, and who decided which members of the 
panel would be involved?  

 
Three members of the original panel (below) were involved in the discussions to move to 

direct appointment. Two are Welsh Government officials and one is the Chair, and 

therefore necessarily involved. They also met the candidate to discuss the role in more 

detail. Whilst this was not an interview, it gave the panel members an opportunity to talk 

with Simon about the role and identify key themes and challenges associated with the 

CEO position.  

 

• Jo-Anne Daniels - Chair of Panel, Interim Director General Education, Social Justice, 

and Welsh Language 

• Professor Dame Julie Lydon – Chair of CTER  

• James Owen – Director, CTER Implementation Programme 

 

I am incredibly grateful to Clare Pillman and Ellen Hazelkorn for their time and 

perspective on candidates as part of the original interview process. I understand their 

contribution to the panel’s deliberations on candidates was invaluable, but as I 

mentioned there was no interview for the direct appointment and, as independent panel 

members, they were not therefore involved in this process.  

 
5. When you decided to move to direct appointment, how were potential candidates 

identified, and who led on this work?  
 

6. Where any external bodies, such as recruitment agencies, involved in the process of 
identifying candidates?  

Pack Page 13



 

James Owen (Director, CTER Implementation Programme) worked with the appointed 

executive search company (Odgers Berndtson) to identify potential candidates with 

Chief Executive level operating experience and a background in Further Education or 

Work Based Learning.  

 
7. How many possible candidates were approached as part of the direct recruitment 

process?  
 

As part of the process of identifying potential candidates, executive search spoke with 

two people in advance of my meeting with James Owen on 13 March. Following our 

meeting, Simon Pirotte was the only potential candidate approached by executive 

search.  

 

8. Were there any identified or potential perceived conflicts of interest between those 
people involved in the direct recruitment and the people identified as possible 
candidates through direct recruitment?  

 
Officials assessed the direct appointment process to ensure the actions recommended 
met the four accounting officer standards of regularity, propriety, value for money and 
feasibility expected by the Senedd and the public for use of public resources. No 
conflicts of interest were identified. 

 
9. Has the preferred candidate declared any political activity or affiliation?  

 
Simon has confirmed he has not undertaken any political activity in the past 5 years. 

 
I am aware of your concerns regarding the public appointments process and as you 
acknowledge this was a Ministerial appointment not a public appointment. I welcome the 
additional scrutiny provided by a pre-appointment hearing which is why I proposed that the 
CEO attend a CYPE hearing during the passage of the Bill. 
 
I hope the responses provide you with the clarity and reassurance you seek in relation to 
the direct appointment process. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
 
 
Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg ac Addysg  

Minister for Education and Welsh Language 

Pack Page 14



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 22

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 24

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 27

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 29

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 43

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 45

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Uned 7 Cae Gwyrdd, Greenmeadow Springs, Tongwynlais, Caerdydd CF15 7AB 
www.colegaucymru.ac.uk   helo@colegaucymru.ac.uk  Ff: 029 2052 2500 

Cwmni Cofrestredig Rhif 2832103   Elusen Gofrestredig Rhif 1060182 

Unit 7 Cae Gwyrdd, Greenmeadow Springs, Tongwynlais, Cardiff CF15 7AB 
www.collegeswales.ac.uk  hello@collegeswales.ac.uk   T: 029 2052 2500 
Registered Company No 2832103   Registered Charity Number: 1060182 

Children, Young People and Education Committee 
Welsh Parliament  
Cardiff Bay,  
Cardiff,  
CF99 1SN 

12 May 2023 

Implementation of education reforms 

Dear Committee Members, 

The FE sector was very pleased to welcome the recent £2.1m of funding from Welsh Government to 
support colleges in implementing the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Act and carrying out their new 
duties. The implementation of an ALN system within post-16 education has provided a focus and an 
opportunity for colleges to improve the FE experience for young people. All thirteen further education 
institutions in Wales have been working hard to ensure that their provision will enable them to meet 
their new duties under the ALN Act. 

However, the sector would like to emphasize that this is only a short term grant, and going forward 
there is a need for longer term, stable, sustainable funding arrangements to support colleges in 
effectively delivering their new duties. As highlighted in our response to the Finance Committee’s 
consultation on the Welsh Government budget,1 colleges have not been immune to the current financial 
challenges and intense cost of living pressures, therefore long term funding in this area will ensure that 
learners have the best educational experience, and open up opportunities for colleges to develop new 
partnerships within their communities. ColegauCymru believes that all young people should have access 
to high-quality further education and training and that, wherever possible, this should be available 
within their own community.  

The FE sector is keen to continue giving evidence to this ongoing inquiry, and looks forward to providing 
an update at the next ‘check-in’. In the meantime, if we can provide any further detail on this specific 
matter, please don’t hesitate to let us know.  

Yours sincerely, 

Dave Hagendyk 
CEO, ColegauCymru 

1 https://www.colleges.wales/en/blog/post/colegaucymru-highlights-plight-of-fe-sector-in-draft-budget-
consultation-as-cost-of-living-pressures-intensify  

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper to note 1

Pack Page 58

Agenda Item 3.1

http://www.colegaucymru.ac.uk/
mailto:helo@colegaucymru.ac.uk
http://www.collegeswales.ac.uk/
mailto:hello@collegeswales.ac.uk
https://www.colleges.wales/en/blog/post/colegaucymru-highlights-plight-of-fe-sector-in-draft-budget-consultation-as-cost-of-living-pressures-intensify
https://www.colleges.wales/en/blog/post/colegaucymru-highlights-plight-of-fe-sector-in-draft-budget-consultation-as-cost-of-living-pressures-intensify


 

 

Dyddiad | Date: 16 May 2023 

Pwnc | Subject: Elective Home Education 

Dear Jeremy, 

I note the recent publication of the statutory guidance for local authorities on elective home 
education and that there is an oral statement scheduled for 6 June.  

In my capacity as Committee Chair, I have received correspondence from people across Wales 
regarding issues around elective home education, and would therefore like to seek a further update 
on the two sets of draft Regulations which were consulted on in 2020:  

• Children Act 2004 Database (Wales) Regulations

• Education (Information about Children in Independent Schools) (Wales) Regulations

The written statement on 12 May which accompanied the statutory guidance said that work on the 
database was “progressing” but it would be helpful if we could have greater clarity on the exact 
timescales for this.  In previous correspondence to us in May 2022, you outlined the intention to make 
the regulations in September 2022, in time for implementation for April 2023.  

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc 
ac Addysg 
— 
Children, Young People  
and Education Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddPlant@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddPlant 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddChildren@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddChildren 
0300 200 6565 

Jeremy Miles MS 
Minister for Education and Welsh Language 

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper to note 2

Pack Page 59

Agenda Item 3.2

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-05/elective-home-education-guidance.pdf
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.wales%2Flocal-authority-education-databases&data=05%7C01%7CNaomi.Stocks%40senedd.wales%7Cbe2b82beb4ad4b071d2b08db553294a1%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638197447945442871%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=xYNuZ1T8cdl08XcLKjwVbEB4NGxeRLzDArFrmjOvkgs%3D&reserved=0
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s125414/Letter%20from%20the%20Chair%20of%20the%20Children%20Young%20People%20and%20Education%20Committee%20to%20the%20Minister%20for%20Educ.pdf


I also note that the written statement said that the handbook for home educators would be published 
“soon”. Can you give an indication of when this likely to be?  

I appreciate you may be planning to give further details as part of the statement on 6 June, but if you 
could provide some details ahead of this statement, I would greatly appreciate it.  

Yours sincerely, 

Jayne Bryant MS 

Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 60



SCHOOLWEAR ASSOCIATION BRIEFING 

The Schoolwear Association represents retailers, suppliers and manufacturers involved in the supply of 

school uniform. Our membership includes more than 250 SMEs, which are principally local family businesses, 

based in high street locations that support their local communities. Together, our members clothe more than 

three quarters of the country’s schoolchildren, providing sustainable, long-lasting and affordable school 

uniform for families across the UK. 

The benefits of school uniform in Wales 

• School uniforms have considerable societal and educational benefits for pupils. Unifying all students

regardless of background, school uniforms act as a social leveller in schools and increase pupils’ sense of

pride and belonging while reducing bullying.

• A survey of around 8,000 head teachers and teachers by the Schoolwear Association, in partnership with

Teacher Tapp, in April 2023 found that:

− 83% believed that school uniform was vital to creating a level playing field

− 71% thought that were school uniform to be removed, children would worry about what to wear

− 53% said they believed it reduced the chances of bullying

• Research conducted for the Schoolwear Association in November 2022, specifically looking at Welsh

schools showed that:

− 60% of schools specify logo’d garments and agreed that these garments give children a sense of

pride

− 87% of schools say parents have not raised concerns over the cost of uniform

− 60% of Welsh schools have already amended their uniform policy or intend to do so in the next 12

months, to take into account the 2019 Statutory Guidance that required schools to ensure their

uniform policies were appropriate and affordable

Value for money 

• School uniform is worn by children for 195 days of the year, so it is important that garments are made of

high-quality materials and are durable.

• High quality garments can be donated, sold in second hand sales, or handed down to younger siblings -

maximising their affordability and minimising their impact on the planet.

• Our data shows that the combined average basket cost of compulsory secondary school uniform is

£96.68 per pupil in 2022.

Problems with the Welsh Government’s new guidance on school uniform 

• Limiting logos and branded items will undermine the value of uniform and increase social inequality

between pupils, who will feel under pressure to abide by the latest fashion trends.

− Costs are also likely to rise for parents too, who may end up purchasing more expensive and/or less

durable items for their children, which don’t offer long-term value.

• Minimising supplier contracts will push up prices for families.

− With appropriate tendering, sole supply allows for more competitive pricing for families and ensures

supplier accountability to ensure all children have a uniform, with all sizes stocked all year around.

− Sole supply arrangements also allow suppliers to support schools on a local basis with, for example,

discounted or free uniform for pupils that the schools identify are most in need. This is not possible if

there are many uniform suppliers.

• The guidance fails to recognise and respect existing arrangements, whether formal or informal, that are

already in place between schools and uniform suppliers.

• The Welsh Government needs to define a timeframe for which schools should avoid significant or frequent

changes to uniform specifications.

− We recommend that this period should be a minimum of 12 months to consider uniform items already

purchased by both suppliers and parents.

Call to action: 

1. Write to the Minister or table questions in the Senedd to address issues with the new guidance

2. Meet with the Schoolwear Association and support schoolwear retailers and suppliers in your constituency

CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper to note 3

Pack Page 61

Agenda Item 3.3



 

 
 

Welsh Government changes to statutory guidance on 

school uniform and appearance policies 

Consultation Questions 
 

Question 1 
Do you agree that school governing bodies should prioritise affordability when setting their 

school uniform and appearance policy? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

School uniform policies must be underpinned by an accurate understanding of uniform costs and 

affordability. As part of this, we would strongly advocate that school governing bodies prioritise value for 

money when setting their school uniform and appearance policy and consider how the quality of a 

garment impacts value for parent over its lifetime alongside the upfront cost. 

 

School uniform is worn by children for 195 days of the year, so it is important that these garments are 

made of high-quality materials and are durable. This will ensure that they last children the duration of 

the school year and beyond.  

 

The schoolwear industry takes pride in providing high quality uniforms, which mean that parents do not 

have to buy new garments as often, and they can either donate the uniform to be sold in second hand 

sales or hand them down to other children. This is only possible when garments are made to a high 

standard and can retain their smart look, which is not usually possible with clothing sold in supermarkets.  

 

Ultimately there is the risk that parents are forced to spend more money in the long term as cheaper 

items are not guaranteed to last as long and they’re forced to regularly repurchase. Our data shows 

families only need to buy on average 2.4 £35 blazers to see children through from years 7 to 11 (data 

covers 68,000 secondary school pupils) 

 

While we agree that affordability is an important consideration, recent research our members carried 

out with Welsh schools, representing nearly 20,000 pupils across Wales, found that 87% of schools 

have not received pressure from parents to make uniform more affordable in the last year.  

 

Similarly, the Children’s Society recently reported that most parents across the UK are not struggling to 

afford school uniform this year. This suggests that while uniform should be made financially accessible 

to everyone, the majority of parents are not worried about the costs of uniform in Wales.  

 

Consulting families and suppliers to get the best outcome  

 

Affordability may also mean different things to different regions. It is therefore essential that there is not 

a one size fits all approach and that schools consider the needs of their families on a case-by-case 

Pack Page 62

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/GCR-2022-Full-Report.pdf


 

 
 

basis. The senior leadership team within schools are often embedded within their communities and will 

know what affordability will look like for the families they serve.  

 

The school uniform industry always seeks to work with schools to support the design of school uniform 

policies, acting as advisers to ensure that a school’s uniform is as appropriate, affordable, and 

accessible to families as possible. 

 

The uniform provider will then be able to advise the best routes to help achieve the look (or as close to 

the look as possible) in the most cost-effective way.  

 

Through our Code of Practice, Schoolwear Association members work with schools to provide 

affordability measures to support those families who need it. This includes facilitating second hand 

uniform sales and swap shops and enables parents to pay for uniform in manageable instalments, 

usually at no additional cost. 

 

The benefits of school uniform  

 

School uniforms also have considerable societal and educational benefits for pupils, which should also 

be considered alongside costs and affordability.  

 

They unify all students regardless of background, and act as a leveller in schools by driving equality. 

Uniform has also been found to increase pupils’ sense of pride and belonging, promote productivity and 

concentration leading to higher levels of educational attainment, and improve welfare by creating a more 

cohesive environment, counteracting bullying. 

 

The Schoolwear Association recently conducted research with Welsh schools, representing nearly 

20,000 pupils. When school leaders were asked why they specify logoed garments as part of their 

uniform policy, over half of schools said it was to remove the desire to buy more expensive brands and 

act as a social leveller, and another 42% said it was to reduce bullying.  

 

A 2017 report into attitudes around school uniforms, conducted by Schoolwear Association member 

Trutex in association with The Diana Award, found: 

• 95% of teachers said uniforms help students ‘fit-in’, while 89% believe they play an active role in 

reducing bullying. 

• 66% of parents thought wearing a uniform puts students on a level playing field, making their lives 

easier. 

• 61% of parents agreed uniform counteracts bullying and 68% believe it reduces the pressure on 

students to wear the latest fashion trends. 

 

An Oxford Brookes study with psychologist Dr Barbie Clark also found uniform removes points of 

difference between students, unifying the student body and providing greater focus on academic work.  

 

In light of this research, it is clear that one of the primary reasons for including a school specific uniform, 

is to remove the risk of bullying based on appearances. Ultimately by removing this social leveller there 

is the real risk of unintentionally exposing children to discrimination and prejudice.  

Pack Page 63



 

 
 

 

 

As such, we strongly recommend that the guidance not only considers affordability alongside long-term 

value for money, but also the government’s implementation of any uniform changes don’t unintentionally 

lead to schools implementing a ‘non-uniform policy’ which would negatively impact the welfare of 

students. 

 

Question 2 
Do you agree that school governing bodies should ensure easy access and availability of 

uniform items when setting their school uniform and appearance policy? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

It is absolutely essential that uniform is available for parents to purchase in a large range of sizes and 

all year round so that no pupil is ever left without uniform that fits them. 

 

The best way to ensure easy access and availability of uniforms is through a sole supplier contract, 

which provides accountability and certainty to schools. As part of these contracts, school uniform 

providers are required to stock garments in every size all year round, meaning that parents will always 

have access to the uniform they need as and when it suits them. 

 

By contrast, supermarkets are not required to stock every size of garment, and indeed only usually sell 

uniform items for a limited period of time in the run up to the back-to-school period. 

 

Where schools do undertake sole supply arrangements, we believe it is critical that any updated 

statutory guidance mandates there is a robust and competitive procurement process in place at the point 

of selecting a provider to ensure provision is fit for purpose and provides the best quality and value for 

money for parents.  

 

Question 3 
Do you agree that logos should not be required on school uniforms? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

While logos have many benefits, it is not that alone which creates the uniform look, nor do they determine 

the cost. Key to creating a uniform look is the fact that some of the key garments (typically upper body, 

outer items) are uniform in nature, i.e. identical styling, materials and colouring.  Without this structure, 

the whole premise of uniform breaks down as it is open to interpretation and difference, eliminating the 

universally accepted benefits of levelling and equality. 

 

Pack Page 64



 

 
 

To achieve the benefits associated with uniforms, policies need to consider the clothing beyond the logo. 

If the policy was that pupils should wear navy blue jumpers, there is the risk that each pupil ends up with 

different type of blue jumper – and there is no longer uniform.  

 

When determining a uniform policy, the suppliers work with schools to decide the design, acting as 

advisers to ensure that a school’s policy is as appropriate, affordable, and as accessible to families as 

possible. Within this process, we recommend that the guidance allows the school’s senior leadership 

team the authority to determine whether their uniform should have a logo and if that is suitable for their 

situation.  

 

Question 4 
Do you agree that logos should be limited to one outer garment, for example a jumper, cardigan 

or blazer? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

In this instance it is important to consider that different regions and communities may have different 

requirements, and there is the risk that being too prescriptive could have adverse effects. While logos 

are broadly limited to one outer garment, this might not be right for every school policy. There have been 

many instances where some elements of a uniform policy have been made compulsory to deal with 

certain local issues.  

 

For example, in North London there is a school where senior leadership team  require pupils to wear a 

school specific badged trouser. This was to address gang culture where children were being singled out 

for not wearing a particular brand of trouser and was resulting in harm and safety concerns. This created 

a social leveller and ensured that no child was singled out for the way they dressed.  

 

As such, it is important to give the leadership team the power to make decisions based on the different 

needs of their schools and pupils.   

 

It is also important to note that, in our experience, the majority of schools that we work with in Wales 

have limited their uniform to 1.5 badged garments already. 

 

Question 5  
Do you agree that iron-on or sew-on logo badges should be provided for learners, free of charge? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

The logo is not the individual element that gives a uniform its cohesive look, indeed it merely acts as an 

identifier. By simply providing sew-on or iron logos there is the implication that pupils can wear any type 

of clothing if the logo is visible. This could result in several challenges for parents, particularly around 

cost and will likely break down the premise of uniform and negate the benefits associated with it.  

Pack Page 65



 

 
 

 

To ensure these principles of uniform are realised, we need to ensure that garments are differentiated 

between clothing that can be bought from a wide range of stores and garments that are bespoke to a 

school. For example, ‘a blue jumper’ and a ‘specific blue jumper from a nominated uniform supplier, with 

or without a school logo’. In the case of the former, whilst it gives parents the option to buy from 

anywhere, it does not result in uniform and therefore eliminates all the well understood benefits of 

uniform in school.  

 

Significantly, we are concerned that without a prescribed uniform there is a risk that parents will be under 

pressure to buy a designer or expensive ‘blue jumpers’ as opposed to the standard school one. This 

would have the adverse effect of driving up costs for parents, whose children face peer pressure to fit 

in. 

 

In contrast, specifying a ‘specific blue jumper from a nominated uniform supplier, with or without a school 

logo’ ensures the principles and benefits of uniform are upheld. This will also create accountability on 

the part of the uniform provider to ensure all children have access to uniform garments in all sizes all 

year round.   

 

Question 6 
Do you agree that logos should not be required on school sportswear and other school 

equipment? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

As with Question 5, the logo is not what achieves a uniform and there is the likelihood that you lose the 

benefits associated with uniforms if garments are not supplied by specialist retailers.  

 

Parents may find it difficult to find what they need on the high street. The garments may not be available, 

in the right sizes, at the right time and at the right price. Often it is very difficult to find unbranded 

sportswear that is suitable for purpose and doesn’t cost more than a uniform from a school specific 

supplier.  

 

Furthermore, without prescribed school sportswear, parents will be under considerable pressure to buy 

designer sportwear for their children, which is usually much more expensive than the sportwear required 

by schools as part of a uniform.  

 

Interestingly, we know that two thirds of schools in Wales feel that having a modern sports kit helps to 

ensure that pupils feel comfortable to participate in sport. As such, there is a direct impact on the health 

and wellbeing of pupils.  

 

Pack Page 66



 

 
 

Question 7 
Many schools enter into single supplier arrangements with a school uniform supplier. This 

means that there is no choice about where branded uniform items are bought. Do you agree that 

schools should avoid single-supplier agreements with suppliers of branded school uniforms? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

In our experience, the vast majority of schools in Wales do not have sole supplier arrangements, and 

there are usually two or three retailers who stock the same uniforms.  

 

However, the best way to ensure there is easy accessibility and uniform is kept in stock is through sole 

supplier contracts. This keeps the supplier accountable for the provision of uniform, rather than allowing 

them to rely on others. If they do not honour the contract, then they risk losing is and it passing to another 

supplier.  

 

We would strongly encourage that there is a robust and competitive tender to select a uniform provider, 

but this should be at the point of selection not distribution. 

 

Question 8 
Do you agree that schools should be transparent in demonstrating that any benefit of a financial 

agreement they have with a school uniform supplier is being passed on to the customer? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

It is important that schools are transparent about all of the contracts that they enter into, to ensure 

accountability about the financial decisions that they make. 

 

Question 9 
Do you agree that if schools enter into an agreement with a school uniform supplier, they should 

ensure that the costs of using this supplier are similar to the costs of school uniforms available 

from high street retailers or supermarkets? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

When considering the cost of school uniform, it is important to understand the differences between the 

types of providers such as supermarkets and a specialised uniform supplier or retailer.  

 

Supermarkets are not required to hold uniform stock in a vast range of sizes all year round. They may 

also not have access to the same type of uniform year on year. Instead, supermarkets will purchase 

uniform in seasonal cycles, offering the average size ranges, and on occasion have to change the 

Pack Page 67



 

 
 

uniform range depending on the cost. Unfortunately, this means that children with more extreme sizing 

requirements are not catered for, and often parents will find it difficult to replace or buy uniform after the 

back-to-school period.  

 

Alternatively, specialised uniform suppliers are contractually obliged to ensure that every child, whatever 

their size is catered for all year round.   

 

The long-term value of garments should also be considered alongside the cost. While supermarket 

prices may be lower priced in the first instance, the often-cheaper materials are not durable and need 

to be replaced on a more regular basis. In the longer term, families can end up spending more money 

as they’re forced to replace items more often. 

 

Our data shows that the combined average basket cost of compulsory secondary school uniform in 

England is £96.68 per pupil in 2022. While school uniform is worn by children for 195 days of the year, 

less than half of these items need to be replaced each year if the uniform is from a specialised supplier. 

As such the average annual spend per pupil on compulsory items at secondary school is £33.21 a year, 

or 17 pence a day.  

 

By comparison, we know that Wales typically has only 1.5 specified garments, which is less that the UK 

average. Therefore, we expect the costs would be lower for Wales.  

 

Question 10 
Do you agree that schools should operate a uniform exchange and/or recycling scheme available 

to families? 

Agree 

Disagree 

Neither agree nor disagree 

 

Schoolwear Association members, by signing our Code of Practice, are committed to ensuring that 

second hand uniform is available for sale in schools. 

 

More generally, the schoolwear industry takes pride in providing high quality uniforms, which mean that 

parents do not have to buy new garments as often, and they can either donate the uniform to be sold in 

second hand sales or hand them down to their younger children. This is only possible when garments 

are made to a high standard and can retain their smart look, which is not usually possible with clothing 

sold in supermarkets. 

 

We recently spoke to Paul Kent, the Founder of Community Inspires, a not-for-profit organisation that 

sells second-hand school uniform. He explained that around 60% of uniforms that are donated are 

difficult to be re-used because they are low quality. Paul added that “the garments provided by 

independent retailers are generally able to withstand the rigours of school life and once they’re no longer 

needed, are still suitable for re-use and drive the availability of second-hand uniform”. 

 

Pack Page 68



 

 
 

Overall, any rise in families resorting to cheaper garments would result in a lack of items available for 

re-use at uniform banks. This would also have an adverse effect on the environment. Clothing sold by 

supermarkets, are generally considered ‘fast fashion’ and the lower quality garments that parents are 

forced to replace more regularly will end up in a landfill. This creates more clothing waste than is 

necessary. WRAP research shows that extending a garment’s life by just nine months can reduce its 

carbon footprint by 8% and its water footprint by 10% by displacing the need for virgin resources to 

create new products. 

 

Ultimately, uniform exchange/recycling schemes are only possible when the items of clothing are in a 

state that they can be re-worn.    

 

Question 11 
We would like to know your views on the effects that guidance on school uniform and 

appearance policies would have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people 

to use Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. 

What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be increased, or negative 

effects be mitigated? 

 

We do not have any specific comments to make on this question, however we do note that many school 

logos in Wales are already written in the Welsh language. 

 

Question 12 
Please also explain how you believe the guidance on school uniform and appearance policies 

could be formulated or changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive effects on 

opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less 

favourably than the English language, and no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use 

the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English 

language. 

 

We do not have any specific comments to make on this question, however we do note that many school 

logos in Wales are already written in the Welsh language. 

Pack Page 69



 

 

18 May 2023 

Annwyl Lywydd, 

Legislative Consent Memorandum for the Illegal Migration Bill 

You will be aware that on 25 April, the Business Committee agreed to invite the Local Government 

and Housing Committee, the Equality and Social Justice Committee and the Legislation, Justice and 

Constitution Committee to consider the Legislative Consent Memorandum on the Illegal Migration Bill 

(the “LCM”), with a reporting deadline of 15 June. The LCM was subsequently also referred to the 

Children, Young People and Education Committee.  

We considered the LCM at our meeting on 11 May. The LCM states that clauses 19 and 20 require 

consent because they relate to the devolved matter of social care, which is not within the Committee’s 

remit. These clauses could place duties on local authorities in Wales. If passed, the Bill would give the 

Home Secretary powers to provide or arrange for the provision of accommodation to 

unaccompanied children who meet certain conditions under the Bill, and to transfer such children 

from Home Office accommodation into local authority care, and vice versa. Clause 19 enables these 

provisions to be extended to Wales without the requirement for Senedd consent.  

We discussed whether to report on the LCM and decided against doing so, mainly because the 

provisions of the Bill fall outside of the Committee’s remit. Even though the Bill enables provisions to 

be extended to Wales and by virtue may place duties on local authorities, it would be unreasonable 

for the Committee to consider every UK or Senedd Bill that places duties on, or transfers powers to, 

Welsh local authorities.  

In addition, during our discussions, the Chair of the Children, Young People and Education 

Committee, who is also a member of our Committee, confirmed that her committee would most likely 

be undertaking work on the LCM. We also understand that it will be considered by two other 

Y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol 
a Thai 
— 
Local Government  
and Housing Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddTai@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddTai 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddHousing@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddHousing 
0300 200 6565 

Elin Jones MS 

Y Llywydd 

Chair, Business Committee 

 
CYPE(6)-16-23 - Papur i'w nodi 4

Pack Page 70

Agenda Item 3.4



committees: the Equality and Social Justice Committee and the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee. On that basis, and for the other reasons outlined above, we have decided not to report 

on this LCM.  

I am copying this letter to the other committees the LCM has been referred to for information. 

Yours sincerely 

John Griffiths MS 

Chair, Local Government and Housing Committee 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 71



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 72

Agenda Item 6 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Pre-appointment hearing for Chief Executive of the Commission for Tertiary Education and Research
	Written Statement by the Welsh Government - CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper 1
	Letter from the Minister for Education and Welsh Language - CYPE(6)-16-23 - Paper 2
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 1
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 2
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 3
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 4
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 5
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 6
	CYPE(6)-16-23 - Private paper 7

	3.1 Implementation of education reforms
	3.2 Forward work programme
	Pwnc | Subject: Elective Home Education

	3.3 Information from Stakeholders
	3.4 Legislative Consent: Illegal Migration Bill
	6 Joint Ministerial scrutiny session - consideration of the approach



